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Milestones in California History—The Golden Gate International Exposition

The fabulous Golden Gate International Exposition of 1939-1940, as seen from the tower of the San Francisco-

Oakland Bay Bridge. Courtesy Gabriel Moulin Archives.

A half century ago, the Golden Gate International Exposi-
tion shimmered on an artificial island in the middle of San
Francisco Bay, a fantasy of peace and beauty in a brutally real
world. The illusion of the “’Fair,”” as it was called, was reflected
in almost everything about it. The giant mythical buildings
and statues were of chicken wire and plaster, destined to be
easily pulled down to make room for a proposed airport. The
1939 theme of the fair, alternately termed a “‘Pageant of the
Pacific” and a "*Pageant of Peace,” clashed with the reality of
Japan’s 1937 invasion of China and fascist expansion in
Europe. Like Disneyland today, the Golden Gate International
Exposition of 1939-1940 offered pure escapism; one thin dime
provided a ticket from the world of the Great Depression and
looming war to an enchanted fairyland of hope, peace, and fun.

During 372 days in 1939 and 1940 millions of excited
visitors arrived by ferry, Key Train, and automobile to see
the fair. Upon entering, guests could indulge their wildest
fantasies. They talked with a robot; savored the art works of the
world in the Palace of Fine and Decorative Arts; smashed an
atom at the University of California cyclotron; observed the
parade of history in the Cavalcade of the Golden West; titillated
their senses at Sally Rand’s Nude Ranch; ate, drank, and made
merry at the Gayway; and watched Pan American Airways
mechanics service and load the giant China Clipper flying
boats in the Hall of Air Transportation.

As a celebration of the advancement of transportation tech-
nology, the man-made Treasure Island, upon which the Fair
stood, bridged the gap between the old world and the new.
The construction of the island—like the fair itself—was a

On the Cover:

Depression-era attempt to stimulate employment and business
in the Bay Area by putting architects, artists, construction
companies, and laborers back to work. The ultimate purpose of
this 400-acre tribute to human ingenuity, completed in 1937
by filling in San Francisco city property on shoals north of
Yerba Buena Island, was a purely functional one—a future
international airport. However, less than a decade after the
island rose from the bay, advancements in aviation technology
invalidated that idea, and Treasure Island became federal prop-
erty in 1944. Over the past four decades, the island has
metamorphosed into a naval base, drab utility replacing the
fantasy of a once-shining fair city. Three concrete and steel fair
buildings, sixteen large concrete statues, a terracotta fountain
portraying the Pacific basin, and a palm-lined avenue stand as
pale ghosts of a time when Americans ventured to believe that
the world could and would become better.

For those who experienced the exposition 50 years ago,
however, the memories of a moment of hope, a season of fun,
will never die. In the words of journalist Richard Reinhardt,
"', . . the Fair represented a turning point for the State and for
the West, as well as for me. It was the last product of the ‘30s,
in a sense. It was a bootstrap operation, like so much in that
era—a time of economic depression, social unrest and unhap-
piness, culminating in something very positive, attractive,
and optimistic. All of that was swept away by the war, like my
own childhood.”

LAUrRie W. BOETCHER,
Editorial Assistant, California History

Viewed from an illuminated garden at the south end of Treasure Island is the striking 400-foot Tower of the Sun, capped by a golden phoenix. The Tower not only
symbolized the Golden Gate International Exposition, but also the rise of San Francisco from the ashes of the 1906 earthquake and fire. Courtesy Treasure Island
Museum. This photograph and others on inside front and back covers reprinted, with permission of Scottwall Associates, from The San Francisco Fair: Treasure Island,
1939-1940, edited by Patricia Carpenter and Paul Totah (San Francisco: Scottwall Associates, Publishers, 1989), a collection of newly published photographs and oral

history narratives of people involved in the fair.
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READER’S ALERT: With this issue, California History
returns to an earlier practice of dating its numbers ac-
cording to the seasons: Spring, Summer, Fall, and Winter.
Readers will note that this release of the quarterly is
designated the Spring/Summer issue. This is being done to
accomodate a special, expanded theme issue that will be
published in Winter 1989. The theme issue, “Envisioning
California,” will include selected papers given at a
conference by the same title held recently in Sacramento,
at which scholars, artists, writers, business leaders, and
public officials examined the state’s history, culture, and
contemporary issues. Like the conference, the Winter
1989 number of California History will be an important
forum for reflections on the California Experience.

California History is published with the cooperation and support of
California State University, Hayward.




EADWEARD MUYBRIDGE
AND

THE OLD SAN FrRANCISCO MINT:

ARCHIVAL PHOTOGRAPHS

AS HISTORICAL DOCUMENTS
by William A. Bullough

describe negatives and prints that have been
processed in a manner that removes or mod-
ifies chemical residues that cause irreversible dete-
rioration. Historians and other researchers use the
word quite differently: to identify materials that
are held in repositories and available for study. In
the case of photographs as documents, however,
the usages can coincide. For esthetic purposes,
many nineteenth-century photographers toned
their prints, without realizing that the process con-
verted residual metals to inert salts and preserved
their work against the devastation of time and
pollution. As a result of this largely fortuitous
circumstance, archives bulge with photographs
awaiting the attention of researchers. But the coin-
cidence involves a conspicuous anomaly.
Historians join photographers and other aficio-
nados of California and the West in their apprecia-
tion for the magnificent legacy inherited from
nineteenth-century image makers. Prints are recov-
ered, restored, and displayed in galleries and
museums throughout the region and the nation.
Admiring audiences universally acclaim their
esthetic qualities and marvel at their precise records
of the landscapes, people, and artifacts of the past.
Despite the attention and appreciation, however,
the importance of photographs as records capable
of adding unique dimensions to historical under-
standing remains to be recognized fully or exploited
effectively. The work of one of California’s best-
known photographers, Eadweard Muybridge, is a
case in point. His prolific work is accessible in
collections and published reproductions, and his-

Photographers employ the term ““archival” to

torians of the art and technology of photography
have studied his numerous contributions exten-
sively. Yet few researchers in fields such as social,
cultural, economic, environmental, or architectural
history have used his images as they would employ
manuscripts and similar archival resources.
When English-born Edward (not yet Eadweard)
James Muybridge followed his New York City
acquaintance Silas T. Selleck to San Francisco in
1855, he certainly did not consider himselfa docu-
mentary photographer—or a photographer of any
sort. During his five years in the city, he earned his
living as he had in England and the eastern United
States: as a private bookseller and as a commission
agent for the London Printing and Publishing Com-
pany. From Selleck, he had acquired a passing
interest in photographic processes that Louis J. M.
Daguerre introduced in 1839, but nothing at the
time presaged eventual international recognition
or ranking among the medium’s major innovators.'
Nor were future achievements any more pre-
dictable when Muybridge returned to England in
1860. While Royal Physician Sir William Gull super-
vised his recuperation from injuries suffered in a
stagecoach accident, however, circumstances con-
spired to alter his course. Gull prescribed periods
of rest and outdoor activity to restore health, eccen-
tricinventor and daguerrean Arthur Brown rekind-
led the convalescent’s photographic interests, and
popular enthusiasm for the stereoscope suggested
a potentially lucrative profession congenial to his
tastes and athletic proclivities. Muybridge also
believed that California’s magnificent scenery and
burgeoning development would supply ideal

2 CALIFORNIA HISTORY




The Old San Francisco Mint, 1910. Courtesy, Olga Widness,
Director, Old Mint Museum
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After Muybridge’s return to
England in 1892, William Vicks
of Ipswich made his portrait.
Courtesy of the Bancroft Library

subject matter and that the United States would
provide an eager market. Thus, when he decided
to return to San Francisco for a second time in
1867, he loaded his baggage with photographic
equipment and supplies and prepared himself to
embark on a new career. In California, Muybridge
rapidly established the esteemed position that he
currently occupies in the history of photography.2

By 1870, indeed, he had joined a contingent of
preeminent western photographers that included
Carleton E. Watkins, Alfred A. Hart, William Henry
Jackson, and Timothy H. O’Sullivan. Operating
from a converted wagon that he called his “Flying
Studio,” Muybridge preserved images of the people
and artifacts of the city and the natural wonders of
the state. For the War Department, he photographed
the recently-acquired Alaska Territory, coastal light-
houses, army garrisons on Alcatraz, the Farallon
Islands, and participants on the site of the Modoc
War. For the Central Pacific Company, he recorded
transcontinental railway construction scenes. Over
his copyrighted pseudonym “Helios,” Muybridge
sold prints at his own outlets at Woodward’s Gar-
dens amusement park and other locations in the
city and through agencies including Selleck’s Cos-
mopolitan Gallery of Photographic Art, Thomas
Houseworth and Company, and the Bradley and

Rulofson Gallery.? During the same period, gold
medals awarded in 1873 by the International Exhi-
bition in Vienna for Yosemite views and in 1875
by the Eleventh Annual Industrial Exhibition in
San Francisco for Central American photographs
confirmed his credentials as a creative artist.*

eland Stanford‘s patronage had by then
added yet another dimension to Muybridge’s

activities. Stanford subscribed to a theory
called “‘unsupported transit” —the notion that all
hooves of a trotting horse left the ground simul-
taneously during its stride. To prove his point, and
incidentally to win a bet, the former governor
employed Muybridge, whose photographs of the
trotter “Occident” at Sacramento during 1872 and
1873 confirmed Stanford’s contention. The $10,000
(some say $50,000) wager that allegedly was
involved has assumed prominence in the folklore
surrounding the episode. In reality, the experi-
ment had more serious purposes: to improve train-
ing methods at Stanford’s Palo Alto Stock Farm
and his horses’ performance on California’s race
courses.”
More importantly, refinement of the techniques
developed to solve Stanford’s problem resulted
in additional attainments and distinctions for

4 CALIFORNIA HISTORY 1




Muybridge. During the 1880s and 1890s, he pat-
ented camera shutters that arrested movement and
the Zoopraxiscope, a device that projected images
simulating motion and fascinated visitors to the
Columbian Exposition in Chicago in 1893. Experi-
ments at the University of Pennsylvania in 1884
and 1885 provided material for publications that
included Animal Locomotion (11 volumes, Philadel-
phia, 1887), Animals in Motion (London, 1899),
and The Human Figure in Motion (London, 1901).°
Between 1889 and 1892, Muybridge astounded
members of the prestigious Cercle de I'Union Artis-
tique in Paris and Royal Institution in London and
other learned European and American audiences
with demonstrations of his techniques and their
results. Finally, seventy years after his death in
England in 1904, he won the title “father of the
motion picture.””

For all of these achievements and more, Muy-
bridge has received well-earned scholarly recogni-
tion. With the exception of photographs made to
study human and animal locomotion, however,
the importance of his work as documentation
received virtually no attention until 1986. Then
historian E. Bradford Burns turned not to photo-
graphs of California and the West but to Guatemalan
scenes produced during 1875.%

Muybridge began a year-long tour of Central
America, sponsored by the Pacific Mail Steamship

Company, shortly after his acquittal on a murder
charge. He had married Flora Stone in San Francisco,
probably in 1872, and two years later learned that
his bride had taken a lover, an adventurer who
called himself “Major” Harry Larkyns. He also
concluded that the man had fathered Floredo Helios
Muybridge, born in April 1874. Six months after
the boy’s birth, on October 17, 1874, Muybridge
tracked Larkyns to a cabin near St. Helena, con-
fronted him with a pistol, and shot him dead.
From then until February 1875, when a jury returned
a verdict of justifiable homicide, the photographer
remained in Napa County jail. Just two weeks after
the decision, he sailed from San Francisco, bound
for Panama.’

In his 1986 monograph, Burns examined the
documentary quality of the Guatemalan photo-
graphs made during Muybridge’s Central American
sojourn. Comprehensive image content included
Indian laborers in fields and villages, the haciendas
and leisure activities of the wealthy classes, coffee
plantations replacing rain forests, sophisticated
urban scenes and primitive native settlements, mar-
ket places, public buildings, and cathedrals. Accord-
ing to Burns, Muybridge produced a “time capsule”
that records sharp contrasts in a society being
transformed—not consistently for the better—by
increasing economic dependence on a coffee-
producing planter class and by the ideologies of

Copyright, 1878, by MUYBRIDGE.,
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In 1878, Muybridge used his patented “Automatic Electro-Photographic” tech-
nique to capture Leland Stanford's trotter ““Abe Edgington’ running at full gait.
Stanford University Museum of Art 13929, Muybridge Collection
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Panels Three, Four, and Five of Muybridge’s 1878 San Francisco Panorama preserve the
view southward from Nob Hill across the South of Market District to China Basin and
Mission Bay and record contrasts in the changing city. The Old Mint (Panel Five) is
distinguished by its twin chimneys. Department of Special Collections, Stanford University

Libraries

a recently-installed political regime. His ““photo-
graphic essay,” Burns wrote, “eloquently an-
nounced the Guatemala that [Justo Rufino] Bar-
rios, the Liberals, and the Positivists would create.”’!°

Muybridge did not intend to produce a “photo-
graphic essay.” Nor do his formal Guatemala stud-
ies approximate the social documentary approach
of his contemporary, Thomas Annan, who exam-
ined the slums of Glasgow, or predict that of a later
San Franciscan, Arnold Genthe, who preserved
the character of the city’s Chinatown as it existed
before the earthquake and fire of 1906. Instead,
they resemble Eugene Atget’s records of the trans-
formation of Parisian streets and architecture dur-
ing the late nineteenth century.'' Indeed, the
Muybridge photographs that are most similar to
those of Atget also provide the most apparent
potential for use as historical documents. His cele-
brated panoramas of San Francisco made from the
top of Nob Hill (then California Street Hill) between
1876 and 1878 are stunning examples. Although

the 18x22-inch plates of his mammoth camera pre-
served amazing architectural variety, sophistica-
tion, and permanence in a city barely a generation
oldin incredible detail, the images were more than
static slices of time. They also contained graphic
evidence of the dynamic processes that transformed
traditional walking cities into modern metropolises
during the late nineteenth century and vivid
reminders of the environmental consequences of a
century of human intervention.'?

Random observations drawn from Muybridge’s
1878 panorama confirm the wealth of information
contained in his photographs. The mass of William
C. Ralston’s Palace Hotel, completed on Market
Street in 1875, dominates Panel Three, but the
Second Street Cut, which bisected Rincon Hill and
its elite neighborhood in 1867 and began major
changes in the city, are clearly visible in the back-
ground. The new City Hall under construction in
Panel Six attests to the shift of urban activity,
influenced by Ralston and other real estate specu-

6 CALIFORNIA HISTORY




lators, southward from Portsmouth Square toward
Market Street during the decade. In Panel Two,
plumes of factory smoke document industrial activ-
ity transforming the South of Market region into a
slum district of factories and tenements called ““Tar
Flat.” In contrast, palatial mansions rising on the
heights in Panels Nine through Eleven testify
to the “conspicuous consumption” characteristic
of the period. The simultaneous demolition of
working-class residences to make way for them
—and for Leland Stanford’s elegant stable in Panel
One—displays not only a negative consequence
of urban improvement but also a source of wage-
earners’ frustrations during the ""Terrible 'Seven-
ties.” Beyond Temple Emanu-El, Trinity Episcopal
and St. Patrick’s churches, and Union Square in
Panel Four are Mission Bay and China Basin when
they were, in fact, navigable bodies of water.'® In
short, examining and interpreting photographs
can confirm what is known about the city and
provide new insights into its history.

Muybridge images of the construction of
the San Francisco Mint, recently acquired
by the California Historical Society, fur-
nish yet another opportunity for using photographs
as historical documentation. The Old Mint located
at Fifth and Mission streets is not, in fact, the
oldest in the city. In 1850, Congress authorized and
President Millard Fillmore approved a Branch Mint
for the state. At first, it functioned in conjunction
with a private mint, Moffat & Co., on Commercial
Street between Montgomery and Kearny, but in
1854 the government bought the firm'’s facilities.
When coinage requirements exceeded the opera-
tion’s capacity in 1864, Congress approved con-
struction of the structure now called the Old
Mint.”*

The federal government purchased the 75,625
square-foot site in 1867, and construction began in
April 1869, under the direction of the designer,
Treasury Department Architect Alfred Bult Mul-
let, and the on-site supervision of local builder

SPRING/SUMMER 1989 7




William P. C. Stebbins. When the Classical Revival
building was dedicated in November 1874, it
represented not only Mullet’s final government
project and the last federal construction in the
so-called American Monumental architectural style,
but also the only example of that genre west of the
Mississippi River. The Old Mint survived the dis-
asters of 1906 and operated until it was replaced in
1937. It received approval for National Landmark
status in 1967, and subsequent rehabilitation efforts
mounted by the California Heritage Council, the
California Historical Society, Director of the Mint
Mary Brooks, and others culminated in its reopening
to the public in 1973.°

Photographers, including Muybridge, recorded
the construction of the massive three-storied build-
ing (two floors, an above-ground basement, and
an attic) between 1869 and 1873. The California
Historical Society collection in San Francisco cur-
rently includes seven photographs made during
construction and two post-1900 images of the com-
pleted Mint. Two of the contemporary prints are
signed “Helios.” The style and quality of two more
and their similarity to a dozen other photographs
that Muybridge made during Mint construction
indicate that they should be attributed to him.®
Three are almost certainly the work of someone
else. The photographs’ specific utility for histori-
ans depends on objectives of research and the
ability to interpret them in conjunction with other
sources of information.

Plate One, dated 1869, is the earliest print in the
group, but it probably is not a Muybridge. The fact
that it is unsigned is not definitive proof, but nei-
ther exposure nor reproduction approach his usual
standard. Flaws resulting from poor wet-plate coat-
ing or inept printing are evident, and the cloudy
sky is an obvious and clumsy addition. Peculiari-
ties of nineteenth-century light-sensitive emulsions
forced photographers to add sky details from sep-
arate negatives routinely made for the purpose. By
1869, however, Muybridge had invented and
patented a device that made the practice less nec-
essary in his work. When he did manipulate his
prints, enhancements were usually undetectable.'”

Nevertheless, Plate One contains useful infor-
mation. Since newspapers record the beginning of
grading in May, the photograph must have been
made later, probably in June or July.'® Orienting
image content with contemporary maps verifies
the vantage point as Fifth (left) and Mission (fore-
ground) streets, both outside the frame of the print.
Some of the occupants of the working-class resi-
dences and shops fronting on Stevenson Street a
half block south of Market in the background and
lining Jessie Street on the left complained about
the construction, but most did not.'® Although
workmen are posed in deference to extended expo-
sure times, their objectives are apparent. They
must use laborious methods and basic tools—
muscle-power, heavy tampers, wooden planks,
and wheelbarrows—to fill forms and compress

Plate 1: From Fifth and Mission
streets, an unknown photographer
recorded the beginning of con-
struction in the spring of 1869.
CHS Library, San Francisco
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Plate 3: Muybridge’s 1870 photo-
graph looks eastward from the
corner of Jessie and Mint streets
and shows the rear of the Mint
under construction. CHS Library,
San Francisco

Plate 2: A tiny “Helios” on a plank at the lower right
identifies Muybridge’s 1870 photograph from Mis-
sion Street, with Lincoln School on Fifth Street in the
background. CHS Library, San Francisco

material to provide a solid base for the structure’s
five-foot thick foundation and supporting pillars.
Comparing outlines of the building site with the
stature of the laborers suggests the truly imposing
nature of the project.

Plate Two is dated 1870 and signed with a tiny
“Helios,” barely visible on a plank at the lower
right. The cornerstone of the Old Mint was laid,
““with Masonic ceremonies,”” at the northeast cor-
ner of the building in late May. Since the picture
shows limited progress on the Fifth Street wall
where dignitaries installed the stone, it probably
was made somewhat earlier, perhaps in April.?0
Muybridge positioned his camera on Mission Street,
looking northward across the construction site
toward Lincoln School, shops, and dwellings on
the east side of Fifth Street below Market. Four
stonemasons use a hand-winched block-and-tackle
apparatus to position pre-cut, numbered granite
blocks from the Penryn Quarry in Placer County to
form ground floor exterior walls.?! One of the build-
ers ignored the camera while posing at his duties,
but his co-workers could not resist adding their
faces to the record. Already-completed portions of
the brick-pillared and iron-girdered basement sub-
structure confirm the solid construction that made
the building impervious to both would-be burglars
and the devastating shocks of 1906.

Plate Three, signed “Helios”” on a keg at the
lower right and dated 1870, initially presented some-
thing of a puzzle, and it illustrates a problem that

frequently confronts photographic researchers.
An inscription (not Muybridge’s) identifies the
camera position as the intersection of Fifth and
Mission streets, but elements of the city visible
in the background and the shape of the building
itself make that vantage point impossible. Com-
parison with maps, other photographs, and the
structure of the Mint suggested the proper orien-
tation. The camera apparently looks eastward from
the corner of Jessie and what is now Mint Street.
Defining the point of view aids interpretation of
the photograph’s content. It suggests, for exam-
ple, that the trestle-like structure at the center
right is either a framework enclosing the storage
tanks of the San Francisco Gas Company (which
appear in Panel Four of Muybridge’s 1878 pano-
rama) at First and Natoma streets or a temporary
tramway used to transport debris from grading
operations southeast of Rincon Hill to China Basin.22
Substantial activity and progress are evident in the
photograph. Scores of workmen, instead of just
four, pose at their tasks, and sandstone blocks
imported from Newcastle Island in British Colum-
bia nearly encase the ground floor.

SPRING/SUMMER 1989 9




PLATE 4

Plates 4, 5 & 6: Muybridge made three photo-
graphs of Mint construction from the same van-
tage point with the same equipment early in
1871. Plate Four (Courtesy The Bancroft Library)
is signed “Helios” in the lower right and was
probably made in February orMarch. Plates Five
and Six were made in April and July. The prints,
in the California Historical Society collection, are
smaller in size than Plate Four, suggesting that
trimming removed the signature.

WS .

IHUH

PLATE 5
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Plates Five and Six, dated April 15 and July
15, 1871, respectively, were made from identical
camera positions, looking in a northwesterly
direction from the intersection of Fifth (right)
and Mission streets. No “"Helios” identifies either
print, but their similarity to Plate Three, their
composition and quality, the apparent use of a
shorter-than-normal focal length lens to empha-
size linear convergence, and especially their resem-
blance to an earlier signed photograph (Plate Four)
from the same vantage point provide evidence
that Muybridge made them both.?3

Whether he did or not, they confirm significant
facts. Ultilities were installed and functioning in
the South of Market district by 1871. City Railroad
Company horsecar tracks traversed Mission Street
heading toward Woodward’s Gardens, and a gas
lamp appears in the lower left corner of the two
images. Plate Five illustrates the sorry state of
street paving and maintenance in 1871; April show-
ers, horses” hooves, and wagon wheels reduced
thoroughfares like Mission Street to quagmires.
Because streets appear to be surfaced in Plate Six,
made just three months later, the source of the
problem may have involved cleaning rather than
paving.** Broadsides on fences in the two photo-
graphs elaborate the range of social and cultural
activities in the city: skating events, excursions,
military drills, drama and musical performances at
the Metropolitan Opera House and the California

Theater, and lectures at Platt’s Hall.?® The most
striking feature of the two plates, however, is the
relative progress in the construction. In April, only
a few segments of the second story wall appeared
on the Mint Street side of the building; by July, the
floor was nearly enclosed. The figures in the fore-
ground of Plate Six (perhaps including Mullet or
Stebbins) may be congratulating themselves on
the accomplishment.

Plate Seven, dated 1872 and showing the north
side of the Mint with the intersection of Fifth and
Jessie streets at the left center, is unique in several
ways, but it probably is not a Muybridge photo-
graph. Print quality is mediocre, and vertical lines
diverge from the perpendicular axis of the buil-
ding.26 For the first time in the group of photo-
graphs, however, the configuration of the building
has become readily apparent, and machine power
makes its appearance in the scene. A single opera-
tor attends a steam engine with its belt enclosed in
a rough wooden housing, but its purpose is not
immediately evident. Numerous construction work-
ers, under the watchful eyes of foremen in the
center and at the right, seem to be actively engaged
in their work rather than posed, as in previous
photographs. The debris of construction—granite
slabs, empty barrels and kegs, scrap lumber, and
tools—lies everywhere, and ladders extending to
second floor windows indicate that interior stair-
cases were not yet installed.

Plate 7: By 1873, the
building approached its
final configuration.
Much interior and exte-
rior detail, however,
remained to be added.
CHS Library, San
Francisco
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Plate Eight is marred by negative or printing
defects in its central area, pronounced linear diver-
gence, and obviously added sky detail (probably
from the same negative used for Plate One). From
atop Lincoln School on Fifth Street, the camera
looked southwestward with Jessie Street in the
right foreground and the spires of Saint Paul’s
Lutheran Church on Mission Street in the back-
ground.”” Although the Mint's final outlines are
well-defined, much remains to be accomplished.
Granite columns await placement on their foot-
ings, work has not yet begun on the massive exte-
rior staircase leading to the main entrance, planks
and ladders still provide access to the interior, no

evidence can be seen of the 150-foot chimneys
designed to exhaust fumes from smelting retorts,
and progress on the roof and attic that will ulti-
mately enclose the central skylights and atria is
minimal. Itis unlikely, then, that interior finishing
or equipment installation had started when the
photograph was made. Yet on the evening of May
22, 1873, Henry Baker, a clerk in the Assayer’s
Office, tumbled from the second floor stairway,
fractured his skull, and died from his injuries.?®
The tragedy challenges the accuracy of the inscribed
date, 1873. If that is indeed correct, the photo-
graph must have been made very early in the year.
Late 1872, however, seems more plausible.

B
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Plate 8: The Mint's physical shape became apparent, ca. 1872. CHS Library, San Francisco
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Muybridge made one
of the earliest
photographs of Mint
construction, probably
soon after the
completion of site-
grading in May 1869.
The dapper figure in
the foreground is
architect Alfred Bult
Mullet. The sign
behind him warns,
“Spectators must not
talk to the workmen.”
Courtesy of the Bancroft
Library

Two rather unremarkable photographs of the fin-
ished Mint (not shown) complete the group of
new images in the California Historical Society
collection. Treu Hecht made the earliest at about
the turn of the century. The costumes and the
carriage seen in the picture suggest the approxi-
mate date, but other information confirms it. Until
1899, Hecht worked as a retoucher for several
firms in the city; then he established his own
studio on 35th Avenue, the address on the photo-
graph’s mount.? An unknown photographer made
the second of the post-construction pictures during
the 1930s.

A preliminary examination of a small group of
photographs, even without a specific topic of inquiry
in mind, demonstrates the value that images from
the past can have for a wide variety of researchers.
Those concerned with architectural history, for
example, will learn about both the design and
construction of the Mint itself and the style and
quality of surrounding residential and commercial
buildings. Social and labor historians will likewise
find information of interest, and the cultural histo-
rian will gain insight from details such as posters
and costumes. For the urban historian, possibili-
ties are both abundant and varied. The use of
photographs as documentation, however, involves
more than simply seeing and identifying. Cam-
eras or photographers do periodically lie, dates
and other data often are erroneous and mislead-
ing, and details can be added or deleted. There-
fore, interpreting photographs demands the same
sort of skepticism, preparation, and insight that is
applied to other kinds of evidence. The effective
analysis of photographs also demands knowledge
of the historical context or setting, the ability to
relate images to numerous other sources of infor-

mation, and familiarity with the history of the
medium itself.

Photographic research can be both laborious and
frustrating, but potential rewards and an occa-
sional exciting discovery more than justify the
expenditure of time and energy. The voluminous
and varied output of Muybridge’s effort alone offers
vast opportunity, but possibilities are limited to
neither renowned nineteenth-century photograph-
ers of his caliber nor major collections. Since 1839,
when Daguerre introduced photography as a prac-
tical process, countless individuals have preserved
a multitude of visual fragments of the past. Stud-
ies currently are locating and publicizing images
made by commercial photographers, portraitists,
journalists, serious amateurs, and family snap-
shooters, all of which can add rich texture to the
fabric of historical understanding.** In addition,
increasing interest in preservation is making the
work of previously anonymous photographers avail-
able through state and local historical societies
across the nation. In numerous collections—large
and small, public and private—an extensive, var-
ied, and neglected resource awaits the penetrating
eyes and curious minds of ingenious and deter-
mined investigators. fd

See notes beginning on page [59].

A specialist in urban history, California history, and the
history of photography, William A. Bullough is Professor of
History at California State University, Hayward. He is the
author of numerous articles, as well as three books: Cities and
Schools in the Gilded Age, The Blind Boss and His City:
Christopher A. Buckley and Nineteenth-Century San
Francisco, and The Elusive Eden: A New History of
California (coauthored).
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ANNIE E. K. BIDWELL:

Chico’s Benefactress

by Valerie Sherer Mathes

uring the spring of 1918 while most Amer-
Dicans scanned newspaper headlines to learn

the fate of the American army in Europe,
residents in the rural Northern California agricul-
tural community of Chico worried about the health
of seventy-eight year old Annie Ellicott Kennedy
Bidwell. She had suffered a slight paralytic stroke,
and her condition was worsening. Then on March
10, the headlines of the Chico Record read: ““Mrs.
Bidwell is Dead. Patriarchal patroness of this city
succumbs to final transition.! For the next several
days, the front page of the local newspaper was
filled with anecdotes, funeral arrangements, details
of the will, and tributes to this remarkable woman,
who, for half a century, truly had been Chico’s
Godmother. She had served her community not
only as a dedicated civic leader and philanthropist
but as a reformer active in temperance, educational,
and Indian reform work.

The love and devotion accorded Annie Bidwell
in death by the community that had been her home
for fifty years was widespread. Businessmen and
women, journalists, judges, school children, and
especially the Mechoopda Indians from the rancheria
on the Bidwell estate of Rancho del Arroyo Chico
paid their final respects. In behalf of all Chico
residents, the Chico Business Men’s Association
passed a resolution expressing their sadness at
the passing of the woman who had been a "“bene-
factress of the city of Chico and its residents.””? In
her memory the Superior Court in neighboring
Oroville and the Justice Court in Chico adjourned
until the day after her burial. All the stores, offices,
and saloons were closed for two hours in the after-
noon to enable grieving residents to pay their last
respects.

In an editorial tribute, the editor of the Chico
Record praised Annie Bidwell for giving away lands
and material wealth, but, more importantly, he
wrote ““. . . she gave of love and charity, and
compassion and high desires, and the example of
that rarest of virtues . . . a Christian life.”””

Normal college and grade school classes were
cancelled to enable approximately 2400 college stu-
dents and school children to form “an avenue
of sorrow”” through which her funeral cortege
could pass. While the town’s children planned to
cover her pathway with flowers, eight Mechoopda
Indians would carry her gray French casket from
the Bidwell mansion, where the service was held,
to the gravesite.? She was to be laid to rest beside
her husband, John Bidwell, in Chico cemetery.

A stately Annie Bidwell toward the end of her
life—beloved benefactress, philanthropist,
and humanitarian to Chico and her people.
Courtesy California State Library
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The headlines of the Chico Record reported that
10,000 people paid their respects. About twenty
Mechoopda Indians from the Rancho Chico ran-
cheria sat in the rear of the main parlor of the
mansion during the service. Noting their pres-
ence, Reverend Willis G. White admonished the
Indians to remember the lessons Annie had taught
them. Although “you have lost the shepherd of
your flock,” he told them, and “you . . . have been
deprived of the inestimable service of one whose
life was consecrated to you . . . you have had the
benefit of a saintly Christian life in your midst”
which would be the “most cherished treasure.””

March 12 dawned with a cloudy, mottled sky that
dropped both rain and hail upon those gathered
at the gravesite—the grayness of the day “reflected
in the grayness of spirit and heaviness of heart.””®
The lateness of the funeral cortege and a sudden
storm prevented the college students and school
children from forming their avenue of sorrow. As
residents gathered at the graveside to hear the
brief, simple prayer, “the sun broke through the
mass of storm clouds into the glory of its western
light over the earth and on the open grave. . . . "

Several days later, braving wind and driving
rain, six hundred Chico residents attended a Sun-
day afternoon memorial service at the Presbyte-
rian church. Those gathered represented the
various groups that Annie Bidwell had touched
through her fifty years of humanitarian work.
Indians, students, teachers, church members, min-
isters, business people, and temperance workers
all paid tribute to the woman who had become
their benefactor. Those assembled, although griev-
ing their loss, pledged to work together to “’bring
to pass those things which she most desired.”®

hat manner of woman generated such

love and devotion that thousands of

mourners braved cold rain and hail to
pay their last tribute? Who was this remarkable
philanthropist and humanitarian who spent half a
century in Chico? How had she come to the realm
of philanthropy and what areas of philanthropic
work was she most interested in? A close look at
her last will and testament dated January 15, 1917,
and the codicil of January 25, 1918, tells us a great
deal about this amazing woman.”

The will distributed an estimated $260,000 to
friends, relatives, and various organizations. All
provisions were considered jointly from Annie and
her late husband John. Her bequests and there-
fore her most important humanitarian and reform

efforts were concentrated in the areas of Indian
reform, temperance work, suffrage, and general
church activities. To Reverend White, her pastor
for a dozen years, and her co-worker among the
Rancho Chico Indians, she left $2,000. To the Cali-
fornia Indian Association, located in San Jose, and
to the National Indian Association, of which she
had been a long-time member, she left $4,000 and
$3,000 respectively. She bequeathed land to the
Board of Home Missions of the Presbyterian
Church as an endowment fund for the Indians of
Rancho Chico. This land could be sold and a fund
established for the benefit of resident Indians.
Finally, the Presbyterian Board of Publication and
Sabbath School Work received $4,000 for the benefit
of Indians living in the foothills of Butte County.

Her intense feeling for temperance was reflected
in bequests totalling $27,000, including $9,000 to
the Prohibition Trust Fund Association of New
York; $4,000 to the Prohibition Party of California,
in Los Angeles; $4,000 to the Chico Women’s Chris-
tian Temperance Union; $3,000 to the National
Woman’s Christian Temperance Union, in [llinois;
$4,000 to the Woman'’s Christian Temperance Union
of California, in San Francisco; $2,000 to the Trus-
tees of the General Assembly of the Presbyterian
Church to be used by its temperance committee;
and finally $1,000 to the Southern California
Woman’s Christian Temperance Union, in Los
Angeles.

Strongly reflecting a belief in evangelical Chris-
tianity, so common to many of her nineteenth cen-
tury contemporaries, Annie remained devoted to
her Christian faith throughout her lifetime. In death
she contributed $12,000 to various Presbyterian
organizations: $5,000 to the First Presbyterian
Church of Chico, $2,000 to the San Francisco Theo-
logical Seminary of the Presbyterian Church, $1,000
to the Board of Foreign Missions of the Presbyte-
rian Church, $2,000 to the Board of Home Mis-
sions of the Presbyterian Church, and $2,000 to
the Accidental Board of Home Missions of the
Presbyterian Church.

Having taught for years, Annie thought the pro-
motion of education to be important, and her
bequest of $4,500 to her great niece, Annie Ellicott
Kennedy, for educational purposes reflected this
belief. The remainder of the Bidwell estate went to
the College Board of the Presbyterian Church for
a co-educational Christian school to be established
on the grounds of the Bidwell mansion. The cur-
riculum included agriculture, horticulture, forestry,
and domestic classes, as well as a class in “the evil
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Annie and John Bidwell on the south porch of the lovely Bidwell Mansion
(ca. 1894), which Annie later bequeathed to the Presbyterian Church for a
co-ed Christian school. Courtesy California State University, Chico, Meriam

Library, Special Collections

effects of alcohol and narcotics on the human sys-
tem, not only physically but in the impairment of
all moral, religious and patriotic impulses.”'

The remaining large bequests reflected other var-
ied interests. They included $3,000 to the Good
Templars Home for Orphans in Vallejo and $4,000
to the National American Woman Suffrage Asso-
ciation in New York to establish a fund in honor of
her friend, Susan B. Anthony. Fully aware of
the importance of historical preservation, Annie
bequeathed $5,000 to the Women’s Auxiliary of
the Society of California Pioneers for a memorial
fund for her friend and founder of the Auxiliary,
Mary M. Jewett. The money was to be used for
the preservation of documents and historical objects
relative to early California history. All of Annie’s
Indian baskets and various curios and books were
willed to the College Board of the Presbyterian
Church for safekeeping. Finally, she bequeathed
the chair given to her father by Daniel Webster to
the National Society of the Daughters of the Amer-
ican Revolution, to be placed in their Washington,
D.C., Memorial Hall.!!

Annie Bidwell’s bequests, however, do not explain
why she became a philanthropist. That answer
can be found in her extremely strong religious

conviction, her marriage to a wealthy philanthropic
Californian and the expected societal demands of
nineteenth century America— which had grown
to allow women to engage in volunteerism and
social reform.'? Therefore to understand Annie
more fully, it is necessary to look at her in the
context of society’s attitude toward women in the
nineteenth century. Although she was a product
of a culture which stereotyped women’s societal
role as a “separate sphere” comprised of “piety,
purity, submissiveness and domesticity,” she was
different from many of her contemporaries because
she became a strong public figure in various reform
movements.

This new femininity, which dominated much of
the nineteenth century, is called the “cult of true
womanhood” by feminist scholars.'? Women were
encouraged through mass communication to accept
these new roles and to learn how to elevate their
families as well as themselves. “To render home
happy is a woman’s peculiar province, home is her
world,”™ noted a contributor to a leading ladies
magazine in the 1830s. Home was a private refuge
from which women “dispensed domestic comforts”
to husbands and children.’

Annie, like many of her contemporaries, accepted
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this belief. During their courtship she told John
that she earnestly prayed and hoped to be the help-
mate that God intended woman to be.'® Throughout
their marriage she “dispensed domestic comforts”
to her husband, but since the couple remained
childless, the Mechoopda Indians, in a sense,
became her children to feed, clothe, care for, and
love. In a larger sense, her “"home” and influence
grew to include the entire community of Chico.
Thus her role as moral guardian extended not only
to her family and to the Mechoopdas, but to the
townsfolk as well.

In addition to accepting the obligations of domes-
ticity, Annie also assumed another role assigned
to women by nineteenth century society. Henry
Ward Beecher, prominent Protestant minister,
believed that a woman was the better teacher, ““and
as the molder and trainer of children in the house-
hold . . . [was] by far man’s superior.””"” For over
a decade Annie had taught the underprivileged in
Washington, D.C. Once in Chico, she transferred
her teaching skills to the Indians who remained
her pupils until her death.

Although home was woman’s “proper sphere,”
by the latter part of the century, private house-
keeping had been expanded into social housekeep-
ing as discontented women realized they could
improve American society.'® Lacking the franchise,
their main avenue for change became the church.
Church work would not take them from their
“proper sphere,” nor make them less domestic or
submissive. Contemporary clergymen believed that
women'’s piety made them "“naturally prone to be
religious””'” and that they were “fitted by nature”’?
for Christian benevolence. “Religion is far more
necessary to . . . awoman . . . than a self-sufficient
man,”” wrote one cleric. ”“In . .. the woman it
w0121}d be not only criminal but impolitic to neglect
it.”

But religious leaders were not alone in this belief.
Catharine Beecher, sister to Harriet Beecher Stowe
and Henry Ward Beecher, believed that Christianity
gave “woman her true place in society”” and that it
alone could sustain her.?? It was religion that sus-
tained Annie Bidwell and led her into philanthropic
and humanitarian work. Both the editor of the
Chico Record and the minister officiating at her
funeral service described her as having lived "a
Christian life.”” Thus she embraced the religious
aspect of the new femininity more strongly than
any of the other features.

Her Presbyterian beliefs were Puritan in origin.
As historian Arthur M. Schlesinger notes, “the

core of Puritanism, once the theological husks are
peeled away, was intense moral zeal both for one’s
own salvation and for that of the community.”*
Annie was definitely zealous both for her own
salvation and later for that of her husband, the
Indians, and the town of Chico. Prior to their mar-
riage, she had written John of the necessity of
feeling God’s presence in all of her duties and of
consecrating their lives to God’s service.**

Her strong convictions complicated their court-
ship. “I long to see you a Christian,” she had
written to him in March of 1867, “both for your
own sake, & for your influence on others.””?> Her
persistance resulted in John’s Christian “declara-
tion,” and during the summer of 1867 he accepted
probationary membership in the Chico Methodist
Church. But Annie was not pleased. Until he
became a Presbyterian, she believed that they could
not mutually understand each other.*® Further-
more, until he was baptized, she would be unable
to pray for him as she “would wish.””?” During the
following summer, he contributed land and money
to construct a Presbyterian Church where he was
baptized on August 30, 1868.2® Writing his pro-
spective father-in-law, John explained that he had
resolved to lead a Christian life so he would be
worthy of Annie, whom he described as ““an angel
of mercy thrownin . . . [his] way to turn . . . [him]
from the wide road to ruin.”*

Annie soon became an angel of mercy to oth-
ers. Armed with her Puritan moral zeal, and
encouraged by both society and her husband, she
entered the world of philanthropy. Philanthropy
had been a part of American fabric since the begin-
ning of the country, and by Annie Bidwell’s gen-
eration, volunteer benevolent associations had
become an established feature of American phil-
anthropy. Various societies handed out funds for
foreign and home missions, for the temperance
movement, for the observance of the Sabbath, for
the Sunday-school movement, and for numerous
other needy causes.* But during the last thirty
years of the century, an exponential growth in
women’s organizations occurred. Four main cate-
gories emerged: organizations that were church-
related (descendants of prewar missionary and
benevolent societies), the Woman’s Christian Tem-
perance Union, various women'’s clubs, and the
two national suffrage associations.?" At various
times in her life, Annie E. K. Bidwell par<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>